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‘I was close to Harman when I heard him say to his section, “Right. Give me covering fire.” He fixed his bayonet and charged the short distance down the hill, firing as he went. He shot two or three Japanese, bayoneted another and the rest ran away. As he came back up the hill he was shot, probably in the back, as Japanese opened up from the other side of a gulley he was in.’


Major Donald Easten, Royal West Kents, describes the death of Lance-Corporal Harman VC, Easter Sunday, 1944.


‘It smelt to high heaven and was littered with kit. Flies were now so thick on this battered, barren and debris-scattered hillside, that complete corpses could be almost buried by them. … They were everywhere, and were now content to sit on the mudblood hill itself. None of us ever saw a bird of any description up there. Jail Hill was, in fact, the acme of desolation, as, of course, was most of Kohima.’


Major Michael Lowry, 1st Battalion, The Queen’s Royal Regiment


‘Sieges have been longer, but few have been more intense, and in none have the defenders deserved greater honour, than the garrison of Kohima.’


Field Marshal William Joseph ‘Bill’ Slim, 1st Viscount Slim, KG, GCB, GCMG, GCVO, GBE, DSO, MC, KStJ
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PROLOGUE


By the end of 1943 the Japanese had occupied most of South-East Asia. On 6 March 1944 the first units of the Japanese 15 Army (including Indian nationalist troops) crossed the inhospitable, almost trackless western border of what was then Burma and invaded India.


It was essentially a two-pronged attack. The primary target was the British and Indian garrison building up at Imphal, the capital of the remote independent state of Manipur. To assist in achieving that objective the Japanese also sought to take control of the only significant supply road into Imphal. This was a rough, albeit all-weather, road that went 69 miles north of Imphal, crossed the border into the Indian state of Assam, then wound its way a further 65 miles through the jungle and mountains to the Assam capital, Dimapur. The latter was a significant road and rail centre that led to the rest of India, ‘the jewel in the crown’. Thus the capture of Dimapur by the Japanese, if that became their next objective, would be critical for any future Japanese and nationalist Indian advances into India.


On 5 April the first of the advancing Japanese forces reached Kohima, a small Assam town straddling the road about halfway between Imphal to Dimapur. It was here that a rapidly assembled, essentially ad-hoc group of Indian and British troops were organized into the defence of the series of hills along the road south of the town. For two weeks of mainly close hand-to-hand fighting with acts of supreme bravery and courage on both sides, the Japanese were kept at bay. However, the perimeter shrank as one hill after another was overrun. The garrison was finally confined to the last hill which held the bungalow, gardens and tennis court of the civilian British Deputy-Commissioner. It was at this point that it was relieved by Indian and British troops mainly from 2 Division of the 14 Army, which had advanced along the winding road between the high hills from Dimapur whilst under attack from Japanese in the adjacent hills and jungle. Later, Indian troops from 7 Division joined 2 Division. On 6 June, after constant pressure, the Japanese retreated from Kohima along the road and across the country to the south and east towards their comrades still besieging Imphal. The Battle of Kohima was over.


Whilst 7 Division engaged in actions against the main body of Japanese moving across country, 2 Division pursued the Japanese units withdrawing along the road. After a series of rear guard actions, 2 Division joined up on the road with troops from Imphal on 22 July. Imphal was relieved. Thereafter all surviving Japanese retreated back into Burma, closely pursued by the Allied British, Indian and other Commonwealth forces.


The Battle of Kohima is acknowledged in military circles to be one of the most important land battles of the Second World War. Mountbatten, the Allied Supreme Commander for South-East Asia described Kohima as ‘Probably one of the greatest battles in history, naked unparalleled heroism, the British/Indian Thermopylae’.


An inscription on a memorial on the site of the battle states simply that ‘At Kohima in April 1944 the Japanese invasion of India was halted.’ Kohima was, in fact, the key turning point of the whole war with the Japanese. From then on until their formal surrender on 2 September 1945 they were regularly defeated and forced to retreat towards Japan.


A company commander of the Cameron Highlanders at Kohima, Major Gordon Graham, MC and bar, revisited the site of the Kohima battlefield in 1954. The following is derived from an article by Major Graham published in The Times of 18 August that year.


At the Kohima crossroads the bus groans to a standstill in the early morning rain and damp mist and lets out its passengers. Behind the bus lies the tortuous mountain road from Dimapur and before it lies the jumbled blue forests and hills of Burma.


There is a spring-fresh smell of wet earth, young trees and sprouting shrubs in the air.


I go to a flat area just above the crossroads. Here is a war cemetery. It contains one thousand three hundred and eighty-seven graves in orderly, impersonal, endless rows. It is the sight, smell and touch of a forgotten battlefield. At first I find no heartbreak, rebuke or regret in this geometrical panorama. It is a design of peace.


On row upon row of bronze plates are inscribed the messages of those who loved them. Some are inspired; some are simple and heartfelt; some are superstitious; some are blank, perhaps stifled to silence by the despair of incomprehension. Killed in Action, April 18 1944, Aged 27, ‘Good Night, Daddy’; Killed in Action, April 21 1944, Aged 29, ‘A very parfit gentil knight’; Killed in Action, May 5 1944, Aged 35, ‘Beatae memorias; quis nos separabit?’; Killed in Action, May 6 1944, Aged 23, ‘Our only beloved son, who died that freedom might live’.


I find that they defy detached appraisal. Tears start to well up as I step haltingly from stone to stone, from plate to plate. I now walk quite quickly, hoping that numbers may smother the sense of individual tragedy.


Dominating the war cemetery is a grand memorial, its message unread by those who pass by on the road, but commanding and holding the gaze of those who pause. It reads ‘When you go home tell them of us and say, ‘For your tomorrow, we gave our today.’’


Round the memorial are written the names of brigadiers, privates, tank drivers, stretcherbearers, signalmen, riflemen, captains, corporals, names from every corner of England, Scotland and Wales. For our tomorrow, they gave their today.


An ex-soldier has written in the Visitor’s Book ‘I wish my name were here.’




INTRODUCTION


The far eastern border of India is reached by land after travelling through a narrow gap formed between the bottom of the state of Bhutan and the north of Bangladesh. Continuing down Bangladesh’s eastern side several Indian states form a relatively substantial land mass between it and Burma (or Myanmar, as it has been known since 1989). This is North-East India.


Far from having sandy beaches fringed with coconut palms, or being punctuated with magnificent palaces or temple complexes, it contains the wettest land area in the world, the villages of Cerranpunji and Mawsynram having an average rainfall of around 12 metres per year. Certain parts of the region are restricted to foreigners because of potential banditry and nationalist movement problems.


European tourists to this rather remote part of the sub-continent are understandably relatively few in number. However, those that do arrive and decide to spend more than one or two days in the region, might well pass through, or even stay at, Kohima. This is a large town with a sprawling mass of old and new buildings spread far and wide over many wooded hills. It is the capital of the Indian state of Nagaland.


Exploration of the immediate area is likely to result in the finding of not one, but several British, Indian, and even Japanese military cemeteries. On one of the hills of a ridge dominating one part of Kohima, visitors will find it hard to miss a particularly large war cemetery overlooked by an even more imposing memorial monolith.


What happened in this place and when? It was in Kohima in 1944 that the Allied British and Indian forces of the 14th Army fought a Japanese army to a standstill in what was probably the most important land-based battle of the war in South-East Asia. It is acknowledged as a key turning point in the Second World War. Two of the participants, Britain and Japan, were both the farthest from their home countries than the opposing participants in any other battle, before or since. For one of them, Japan, this was also the farthest they advanced west from Japan, as it was here that they were stopped in their first major land defeat and were forced to withdraw eastwards, back towards Japan and eventual surrender. Kohima was therefore, for many, the furthest battle.


That battle, and subsequent events in the region and then Burma, were overshadowed by the start of the invasion of Europe in early June 1944, as well as the sheer distance away from where most media attention was concentrated. Indeed, the 14th Army was called ‘the Forgotten Army’.


This is the story of why and how the Battle of Kohima happened.


It is the first account to bring together such a comprehensive selection of the personal stories of those from both sides who were actually involved in the conflict.


The account commences with descriptions of the pre-war British administered Indian state of Assam and one of its districts called Naga Land, the neighbouring independent Indian state of Manipur to the south, and the eastern border area between those two states and Burma.
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PART 1


FROM BURMA TO INDIA




CHAPTER 1


North-East India, Assam, Naga Land and Kohima


Assam


Since 1858, India had been part of the British Empire under a Viceroy based in Delhi, administered by British officials of the Indian Civil Service. Assam was one of several north-east provinces of India, (it still remains one of the present North-East Indian states).


Assam and its adjacent provinces were remote from the rest of India because there were few significant roads or lines of easy commercial communication. For example, a railway line from the main port of Calcutta (in what is now Bengal, just west of Bangladesh) went north up the Brahmaputra Valley towards Assam. It had one rail gauge for about the first 200 miles, then, requiring transhipment of all goods, it changed to another gauge for the next 250 miles. At the Brahmaputra River the wagons had to be taken off the railway line to be carried across by barges. They were then put back on the track again for the 150 miles to Dimapur in Assam at the extreme east of the Valley, and then another went 200 miles to Ledo in north Assam. The end of the line was actually about 40 miles further on, near Sadiya, in what was then called the Sadiya Frontier Tract, adjacent to the mountain ridges of Tibet. At Dimapur there was also an alternative railway route west towards the rest of India. It was therefore a town of particular strategic and commercial importance with its links between India and the towns and villages in the north and south of Assam.


Manipur State, Imphal


Adjoining Assam province in the south was the then independent state of Manipur, ruled by a Maharajah and assisted by a British Advisor. The main town of Manipur was (and still is) Imphal. Imphal was then essentially a group of connected villages with a small central cantonment of ten or so expatriate bungalows, an old brick-built fort, abandoned palace area, and various domed temples. There was a new white-painted palace located just outside the main ‘built-up’ area. Surrounding this were groves of plantain and bamboo. It was around 400 miles from Calcutta and 70 miles from the Burmese border. The nearest British India administrative headquarters was in Assam at Silchar, 100 or more miles along a meandering track through the hills to the west.


The Imphal Plain on which Imphal is located is the site of an old lake, a large, ovalshaped, often swampy area about 40 miles long by 20 miles wide at around 2,600 feet above sea level. Except for the treeless western foothills, the Plain is surrounded by jungle-covered mountains, the 5,000-feet-high Naga Hills in the north and east and the even higher Chin Hills to the south. In fact, it is the only substantial flat area between the Brahmaputra Valley and the plains in central Burma. Road access to and from the Plain was confined by the surrounding mountains. Other than a direct, but pre-war unmetalled road from Dimapur to Imphal, there were few usable alternatives. There was a rough fine-weather-only road south-east to the Manipur River and then via Palel to the small town of Tamu at the frontier with Burma. There was another one which reached south as far as the remote hill village of Tiddim 162 miles away in Burma itself, then some others to the north-east, connecting Imphal to villages in Manipur such as Sangshak and Ukhrul and to the corresponding Somra Hills tracks in eastern Assam. Finally, there was the previously mentioned poor track coming into Imphal via Bishenpur from Silchar away to the west in India.


Burma


The eastern borders of both Assam and Manipur adjoined the western border of Burma, a country more than twice the size of Great Britain. It had been a British Crown Colony since 1937, but in practice was administered as a province of British India by a Lieutenant-Governor responsible to the distant Viceroy of India and his Council, not one of whom was Burmese. Although rich in oil, hardwood, precious metals and stones and the world’s largest exporter of rice, these were almost all owned and run by foreign companies, most from Britain, India and China, indeed Indians accounted for two-thirds of the population of the capital Rangoon. Burma was therefore the base for many international companies with large numbers of expatriate staff and their associated facilities.


The Assam/Manipur/Burma border area


Geographically there was (and still is) nothing to differentiate conditions east and west of the Burmese border for most of the distance over which it was adjacent to Assam and Manipur States. The main physical boundary for over 200 miles is the River Chindwin, a major western tributary of the Irrawaddy River. The Chindwin is actually inside the Burmese border, in a valley which forms the eastern edge of the Assam and Manipur north-south mountain ranges.


The border areas and considerable distances either side were almost trackless, and with the exception of the Imphal Plain, steeply-hilled, even mountainous, often thickly-jungled and extremely wet in the rainy season, susceptible to landslides, not mapped in many areas and often sparsely inhabited. The jungle contained lush varieties of all sorts of hardwoods including oak and teak, massive clumps of bamboos, bananas and other tropical fruits as well many brightly coloured flowers and flowering plants such as irises, marigolds, lupins, primulas, asters and bougainvillea. It was also an area of tropical diseases such as malaria, dysentery and scrub typhus. Wild animals – elephants, deer and sometimes tigers, and snakes such as cobras and kraits – as well as a large variety of birds abounded throughout the largely unpopulated area. There were also millions of leeches, particularly in the rainy season, which lasted about half the year. This turned tracks into deep mud, streams and rivers into torrents that flooded relatively flat areas of cultivation and the stepped terraces of paddy fields climbing up the hillsides of areas adjacent to scattered villages.
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Besides being extremely isolated from the rest of the world, it is apparent that the region could be both a beautiful but also a potentially very hazardous place to be.


Naga Hills District


The Naga Hills District, commonly referred to as Naga Land (later to become and currently still an Indian State in its own right), was in the most south-eastern border area of Assam. It was bordered by Burma to the east and Manipur to the south. The District was under the administration of a Deputy-Commissioner of the British Colonial Office. In 1940 the Deputy-Commissioner was Charles Pawsey, who resided in the main town of Kohima.


The local inhabitants of Naga Land are various hill tribes of Nagas, thought to be of Mongolian origin. All were stocky with thick jet black hair and deep copper-coloured faces. The women kept their hair long and wore ‘loghi’ skirts, generally with short tops, scarves, bangles and beads. Although the men were friendly, they were very fierce looking. Their hair was clipped short and straight, or was tied into a bob on the tops of their heads, with a coloured head-band commonly decorated by some coloured feathers. Some of them had animal bones through their noses and ear piercings, many had shell necklaces. Most had large ivory amulets around their biceps decorated with more feathers and animal bones. The same arrangement decorated the calves of their legs. They wore a little square shaped coloured apron from the waist down at the front and an even smaller one hanging round the back. Many of them had red blankets over their shoulders. Just below their knees were amulets similar to those on their biceps, sometimes enhanced by elephant hair, which bounced up and down when they walked. As most walking involved going up or down hill sides, often carrying water and other heavy loads, they were very fit, with bulging calf muscles and biceps. The men carried one or more of an assortment of weapons. Some had bows carried diagonally across their chests with quivers full of arrows slung over their shoulders. Most had spears of pointed sticks, the blunt ends of which were used on sloping ground like walking sticks, and all had knives and sharpened machetes. Occasionally a Naga was armed with an old barrel-loading flint-lock rifle.


With the exception of a few scattered dwellings near tracks, the majority of Nagas lived in bamboo-framed attap palm leaf thatch-covered houses in villages called bastis. The villages were more densely located around Kohima, but then more sparsely scattered around the Naga Land hills. Whilst a few huts near to relative civilisation had roofs made of tiles formed from rusty red flattened tin cans or even increasingly from corrugated iron, the majority of the roofs were also thatched with attap. More remote, older Naga villages would invariably be on the crests and ridges of the hills with a large ditch surrounded by substantial stone walls, often loop-holed for defensive fire. Also for defensive purposes the approaches to villages might be along winding tracks with high banks on either side, or via a deep ravine from a dried-up river bed, allowing the passage of only one person at a time. Entry to the villages at the ends of the tracks was through thick wooden doors.
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A Major Tainsh, stationed in north-east Assam in 1942, [1], described the remoter villages in some detail:


The Nagas build their villages on the highest ground available because a village on the top of a hill is easier to defend, no one can shoot down on it and it is difficult to approach it unseen, The other great advantage is that there are fewer mosquitoes and sand flies at the tops of the hills than in the valleys. The villages are easy to keep clean as the heavy rain washes all the dirt down the hill. The Nagas do not mind having to walk half a mile or more for their water: in fact, in having the water a little distance from the village there is less chance of its becoming contaminated.


The Naga houses are long buildings, constructed on poles high enough off the ground to shelter cattle and pigs underneath. Each house stands apart, with its own granaries and store houses also built high off the ground to protect them from rats and animals.


The houses are substantially built entirely without nails out of logs, bamboos and thatch to withstand the monsoon. They are long and open in front, thus forming a covered verandah where the women spend most of the day. Inside there is no furniture other than a few paddy-straw mats. Round the walls are hung various trophies, antlers, skulls of civet cats and monkeys, and in part of the room are hung the large beaks of hornbills.


The innermost room is very dark as the only light that can penetrate is from a small door, so it is used only as a dormitory. Chungs, or sleeping platforms, are raised off the ground and are made of split bamboo tied to a frame very much like a bed.


The steep jungle-covered sides of the heights on which villages were located were cut out in large terraces and planted with crops. The major crop was rice. Tainsh:


The Nagas and other hill tribes cleared jhums (clearings) in the forest for cultivation. An area is generally selected on a ridge where the drainage is good and where there is plenty of sunlight. The trees are felled and allowed to dry. They are later burnt, and the ashes are dug into the soil. Villages sometimes have fruit plantations with pumalows, pomegranates and guavas. There are usually a few clearings on the more prominent ridges.


The Dimapur/Imphal Road to Kohima


As previously mentioned, an all-weather road, albeit one suffering from seasonal landslides, started at the key communication hub of Dimapur in Assam, passed 46 miles through and around the steeply-jungled hills of Naga Land to Kohima, and then went south a further 88 miles to Imphal in Manipur. This road features a great deal in the Battle of Kohima.


Over the initial 46 miles, although the adjacent hilly landscape could be much higher, the route of the Dimapur/Imphal Road rises from around 400 feet to 4,750 feet above sea level. After leaving the hot, oppressive Dimapur plain, for the first ten miles the tarmaccovered road rises gently between terraced rice fields and occasional Naga settlements to a pass into the hills at the village of Nichiguard. Thereafter it winds steeply and tortuously through steeply-sided hills covered with dense jungle with lush undergrowth interlaced with massed clumps of bamboos and rhododendrons. Between Milestone 10 and the village of Pripheme at Milestone 28 it winds in a series of sharp bends along the steep southern side of the hills, tarmac running out at around Milestone 20, leaving the road from then on as a track just wide enough to allow two vehicles to pass each other. After going through a pass it then finds itself on the equally steep northern slopes of the hills. The most notable features of this jungle-surrounded road are the extremely steep drop on the left, generally northern, side, sometimes towards a torrential river 500 or so feet below, a steep slope rising up the hill on the other side of the river and then the dense jungle rolling away towards the horizon. Because of a propensity for serious landslides during the monsoon season at around Milestone 42, at Milestone 40½ there is a branch road south to a Naga village called Jotsoma, which then returns to the main road at Milestone 43½.


At around Milestone 44 the land continues to fall away on the left, but on the right hand side it rises up to block the view and, depending on which way the road curves, generally appears to continue in front of it as a long high ridge. The slopes leading down from the ridge are formed into rice terrace after rice terrace, almost right down to the bottom of the valley on the left hand side of the road. As described by a young British anthropologist [2]:


Everywhere the wet-rice terraces swept down row on row in fan shaped staircases two thousand feet deep to the rich irregular curves of the valley fields, whose banks made a black tracery on the bright water.


Shortly afterwards the first signs of Kohima come into view. At around 4,700 feet above sea level, Kohima is situated on a saddle where the line of hills through which the road is winding from Dimapur joins the Somra Hills, a high range stretching from the north to the south of Naga Land. Kohima straddles the road, the best route between Assam, Manipur, and ultimately Burma, as it passes between the hills. It is set in an ocean of peaks and ridges, a wilderness of steep fields, terraces, untouched jungle, cliffs, gullies and sharp-edged ridges that stretch away as far as the eye can see. Scattered Kuki hamlets and Naga settlements are visible perched here and there amongst the dark forest covering the hill tops. Slopes are steep and thickly wooded with dense, tall trees that ensure cold darkness underneath during the nights and a hot, sweaty humidity during the day. In the early morning as the sun rises above the undulating wooded horizon, mist can be seen as if boiling in the hollows and then rising raggedly upwards, dissipating. Here is what an evening arrival would reveal [3]:


In the distance you can see a village [What was known as Kohima’s Naga Village] perched on the very peak of a sharp ridge and built substantially of timber with red corrugated iron roofs.


From afar Nagas can be seen trotting up steep paths with their loads supported by a band across the brows of their heads.


There is also a pleasant smell of wood fires lingering on the evening air. Most welcome of all is a nip in the air as the light of day begins to fail, with the promise of the luxury of a night slept under blankets without the oppression of mosquito nets.


It is a beautiful land of wooded hills. [Just the place for] a hard-earned leave on the edge of the Himalayas.
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Kohima


In 1940, Kohima was a pleasant British India hill station, an administration centre and focal point for the few British expatriates resident or temporarily visiting Naga Land. At what was then the approximate centre of Kohima, just beyond Milestone 46 on the Dimapur/Imphal Road, was a junction where a jeep track headed north. On high, flattish ground to the north-east of the junction, partly surrounded by lush jungle, was a market, or bazaar, where local produce and other goods were sold or exchanged. This area merged with the attap huts and the conspicuous corrugated iron-clad American Mission building of the largest Naga village in Naga Land, known locally appropriately enough as the Naga Village.


Just south of the Naga Village, but still north-east of the main junction, were the walls of an old wooden British fort, within which were the government buildings where the Deputy-Commissioner, Charles Pawsey, (in other countries such men in similar circumstances were known as District Officers), and his staff worked. This area was known as the Treasury. To the east of the Treasury were the barracks of the 3rd Assam Rifles under Colonel Geoffrey ‘Buster’ Keene, which was, in effect, the local paramilitary police force.


At the main junction the Dimapur/Imphal Road turned sharply south, that southern area being generally lower than the area to the north of it. Immediately south-west of the junction was a wooded ridge of small hills by the side of, and in one case through which, the main road continued its winding journey southwards towards Imphal. These hills were known collectively as Kohima Ridge.


The northernmost and highest hill overlooking the main junction was known as Summerhouse Hill. This was because at the top, nestling among fairly dense trees which included oaks and alders and a thick tough undergrowth of tall grass and ageratum, there was a gazebo. The bottom part of Summerhouse Hill to the north and east was landscaped as a series of terraces of various heights but in all about 100 feet high from road level. The embankments separating the terraces were so steep that generally, except by being on the top edge of a slope, it was not possible for a person on one terrace to see what was happening on the next terrace down.
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On the lowest terrace were located Pawsey and Keene’s bungalows, with ornamental gardens, lawns, rhododendron bushes, red-blooming cannas and groups of trees. This terrace was reached by a steep driveway from the main road. On the second terrace were tin-hutted servants’ quarters and other facilities. On the third terrace, about 35 feet higher up from the bungalow terrace and about 60 feet wide, was a hard-surfaced tennis court surrounded by tall wire fencing. Alongside the tennis court was a large cast-iron water tank. On a fourth terrace about 10 feet higher still was a small Club House with billiard table and library. Just behind that Club House was a large mound of earth about 20 feet high, 15 feet wide and 80 feet long, the result of the terrace levelling operations. That last terrace ran south towards the bottom of the steeply-rising remainder of Summerhouse Hill and its gazebo.


Along the western edge of Kohima Ridge starting near the bungalows was a path through the trees known as the Ladies’ Mile, used by the British expatriates for strolling or riding. To the west of the Mile, the thick jungle fell away steeply. The path finished on the Dimapur/Imphal Road a little further south.


Other Naga Land tracks


Other than the main Dimapur/Imphal Road, Naga Land contained only a few tracks, normally leading away from the Road or away from Kohima to villages mainly in the Somra Hills to the east of Kohima. Pre-war, the tracks varied in quality from faint trails passable with difficulty by men in single file to pony tracks used by the administration.


There were also a few narrow rough jeep tracks. For example, one track proceeded north from the main Kohima road junction to a village called Merema and then beyond that to Cheswema and finally to Bokajan, north of Dimapur, on the route of the previously mentioned strategic railway from Dimapur to Ledo. Because of the potential landslide problems at Milestone 42 on the main Dimapur/Imphal Road, work commenced on upgrading that track from the Bokajan direction to an all-weather standard. The upgrading of what was usually referred to over part, if not its whole length, as the Bokajan Track, was abandoned mid-construction because the landslide problems on the Dimapur/Imphal Road were sorted out by improving the drainage.


A very early offshoot of the northern track from the Kohima junction turned east just south of the Naga Village and then into the Somra Hills towards, amongst others, the Naga villages of Phek and Jessami, some 60 miles east from Kohima. There was also a roughly parallel track to the latter that went east from Tuphema south of Kohima on the Dimapur/Imphal Road at Milestone 70 to Kharasom, about 27 miles south-east of Kohima. Both the Tuphema and Kharasom tracks could be used to reach an administrative centre in Manipur State called Ukhrul, and then Imphal. Much more will be written about these tracks and locations later.


The Dimapur/Imphal Road beyond Kohima


After turning south in the centre of Kohima, the Dimapur/Imphal Road continued its remaining 88-mile journey to Imphal. Immediately visible and rising just south of Kohima was the towering mass of Mount Pulebadze, at 7,522 feet, with Aradura Spur on its eastern side at right angles to Kohima Ridge, at around Milestone 49 reaching as high as 6,000 feet. Before leaving Kohima the road wound around the eastern side of the Ridge, passing the red corrugated-iron-roofed buildings of a civilian jail on its own hillock on the east of the road, opposite to where the Ladies Mile track joined the road. The road then immediately proceeded up the steeply falling eastern shoulder of the projecting Aradura Spur and past Pulabadze. After Pulabadze the road passes several high peaks of nearly 10,000 feet to the west. The road zigzags upwards another 1000 feet or so until it reaches its highest point of 5,760 feet at Mao Song Sang, which is the boundary between Naga Land and Manipur State. The hills then continue south towards, and then east of, the Imphal Plain, enveloping the large Manipur village of Ukhrul north-east of Imphal and stretching east almost as far as the Chindwin River in Burma. The road itself goes more directly to Imphal through what, for a while, continues to be very steep, dense jungle, before the country becomes more open and covered with high grasses. It then finally drops down onto the Imphal Plain and Imphal, still much higher than the road’s starting point at Dimapur, and in places enclosed by more mountains several thousand feet higher still.


Returning briefly again to Kohima, it is easy to imagine, as one writer did, [4], how on a typical day


The Europeans would play tennis at the Deputy-Commissioner’s Bungalow and Club House, after which they would retire to the verandah of the Club, the men to their chota pegs and the ladies to their spiced tea, served by uniformed bearers under the watchful eye of a head bearer in the coolness of a very pleasant evening.


On such an evening, as the hours passed, one by one the lights in Kohima and the Naga villages in the surrounding hills would go out. All was peaceful in this quiet little corner of India.


This was to change in the next few years, firstly somewhat slowly, but by 1944 with breathtaking speed. This was because it was in this rather idyllic east-Indian setting that one of the most significant conflicts of the Second World War occurred. Kohima, the Deputy-Commissioner’s bungalow and the tennis court were to be at the centre of events.




CHAPTER 2


War with Japan; Allied retreat from Burma; Allied regrouping and consolidation; 1st Arakan Campaign


War with Japan


The Japanese had invaded the Chinese province of Manchuria in 1931. The Chinese, who were in two political militarized factions, the Nationalists under Chiang Kai-shek and the Communists under Mao Tse-tung, were pushed west and north. Each faction considered the other and not the Japanese to be their main long-term opponents. In 1934 the Nationalist Party forced the Communists to retreat into the Shensi Province in north-west China, where the latter remained for several years and, unlike the Nationalists, had no connection with the later war in Burma.


From 21 September 1940, starting in the north and with the agreement of the French Vichy Government, the Japanese took complete military ground, air and naval control of French Indo-China. The Japanese signed a Triple Alliance with Germany and Italy on 27 September 1940.


By 1941 the Japanese had occupied the China coast and much of Vietnam. China had lost an area of 550,000 square miles. The Nationalist Chinese were confined to the far south-west with a headquarters at Chungking, their existence being almost totally dependant on supplies provided by the United States. Those US-financed supplies were sent by land principally along what was known as the Burma Road. Using the road system that began in the port at Rangoon, it went via Mandalay to Lashio, a town 120 miles from the Chinese border. Lieutenant James Lunt of the 4 Burma Rifles visited Lashio, (which he called ‘almost a Chinese-American town’), in January 1940 [5]:


The Road ran from the frontier for more than 1,500 miles across some of the most rugged mountains in the world, crossing and re-crossing two of the world’s greatest rivers, the Salween and the Mekong, as well as numerous tributaries. Day and night trucks thundered along it in a torrent. On the one occasion I saw the road I marvelled that men could create such a miracle of engineering.


The Burma Road proceeded north-east from Lashio to the Burma Chinese border. Crossing the border, it then climbed into the high western plateau of Yunnan and then via Kunming to Chungking. This was the Nationalist Chinese’s only land link with the outside world.


The Japanese advanced south. By July 1941 they had occupied the rest of French Indo-China and then Thailand (which had changed its name from Siam in 1939), in the latter case on the pretext of supporting Thai territorial claims to parts of Burma and so with no opposition from the Thai government.


On the morning of 7 December 1941 the United States’ base at Pearl Harbor was bombed by Japan. Over 7 and 8 December, Thailand, Malaya and Hong Kong were invaded. Britain and the United States declared war on Japan on the 8th. The Philippines was invaded on the 9th and off the coast of Malaya the British battleships HMS Repulse and Prince of Wales were sunk on the 12th. The Japanese made their first moves into Burma by occupying Tenasserim Province at its exteme southern-most tip on the 11th. The airfield at nearby Victoria Point was occupied on the 13th to protect the flank of the Japanese advance into Malaya. These invasions were followed, amongst others, by the occupation of Hong Kong and Sarawak on the 25th and the Celebes on the 26th. Rangoon itself was bombed for the first time on 23 December with around 4,500 casualties, followed by another bombing on 25 December, although in the latter the Japanese lost 11 planes to US Tomahawks of the United States unit the American Volunteer Group (AVG) commanded by US Colonel Claire Chennault. By 29 December, Ipoh, halfway down the Malayan peninsular, had been captured.


Until 1939 Burma had been under the military control of India, at least until the formal severance of Burma from India could be completed in accordance with the Government of India Act of 1935. However, by 1940, the control of Burma had been transferred to the British Far East Command based in Singapore, a decision that in retrospect was not ideal for reacting to the Japanese invasion of the former. The speed and extent of events throughout south-east Asia had taken the British Chiefs of Staff in London by surprise. At this time their overwhelming concerns were in Europe and the Middle East. South-east Asia was at the bottom of any list of military priorities. An invasion of Burma was even lower down the list of possibilities, being so far from Japan. Of more concern was a risk of internal insurrection. As a consequence there were only two British garrison battalions in Burma, the 1st Battalion Gloucestershire Regiment and the 2nd Battalion Kings Own Yorkshire Light Infantry, total strength about 1,200 men. There was also an under-trained and poorly-equipped 1st Burma Division consisting of four battalions of Burma Rifles (normally non-Burmese minorities led by British officers and so considered as much an army of occupation as the British battalions) expected to be used only for internal security purposes, various other company-strong support units such as engineers and artillery, and the RAF 67 Fighter Squadron.


For three weeks the Japanese remained where they were at Tenasserim in southern Burma, providing the Allies with an opportunity to bring in reinforcements. On 9 January, units of 17 Indian Division started arriving, the Division establishing its Headquarters at Moulmein, on the other side of the Gulf of Martaban from Rangoon. It contained many young, inexperienced recruits and relatively little equipment, (although it later became the most battle-experienced in the as yet unformed 14 Army).


On 10 January 1942 the Japanese invaded the Dutch East Indies, a substantial part of what is now Indonesia and captured Kuala Lumpur, the capital of Malaya, on 11 January.


Allied retreat from Burma


On 18 January, significant numbers of Japanese units starting crossing the Thai border east of Rangoon in strength. The Japanese troops were from the 33 and 55 Divisions of the 15 Army under Lieutenant-General Shojiro Iida. One of their principal aims was to cut off the Burma Road, the Chinese Nationalist’s land supply line.


Following bombing, the Japanese first significant and successful battle in Burma was at Moulmein, which they captured on 30 January, 17 Division retreating north. They had already captured the southern airfields at Tavoy and Mergui from which attacks were initiated on the port of Rangoon and the surrounding region from 23 January. In fact, Rangoon had been brought to a standstill by early February. There were many other successful attacks by the Japanese in the following weeks.


The Allies were hampered by many factors, including inadequate numbers, preparation, intelligence, communications, air power, artillery, experience, contradictory and impractical orders from staff officers based far away in India, and probably, most of all, by superior Japanese tactics.


Elsewhere, Thailand had declared war on Britain and the United States. The Japanese successes continued. By 27 January Malaya had been totally occupied and Singapore surrendered on 15 February.


In Burma, the Japanese crossed the Salween River on 9 February and by the 21st, after inflicting several defeats, including a particularly serious one at Bilin, had pushed the Allies – now mainly the 17 Indian Division – back to the road bridge over the Sittang River east of Rangoon. The bridge over which the Division intended to withdraw towards Rangoon was blown up too soon, trapping two brigades, around half of the Division’s strength, on the eastern side. Following a major battle lasting two days, on 23 February the survivors were forced to swim or cross the Sittang in rafts to escape, losing two-thirds of their numbers to the pursuing Japanese, and almost 200 men surrendering. The Division lost most of its artillery, vehicles and other equipment and ceased to be an effective fighting force. Meanwhile, the 7th Armoured Brigade had arrived in Rangoon on 17 February. The Brigade contained experienced, blooded British troops who quickly adapted to jungle conditions and who were frequently used as a dependable rearguard.


On 5 March, a day before Batavia, (what is now Jakarta, the capital of Indonesia) was captured by the Japanese, General Sir Harold Alexander arrived in Rangoon to take over command of the Burma Army. He had previously been in command of the Allied evacuation of Dunkirk in Europe. He now found himself in charge of another retreat as, within two days of his arrival, he ordered the evacuation of Rangoon for what, although he did not know it at the time, would be a 650-mile withdrawal to Imphal in India. Alexander and his staff escaped just before the Japanese marched into the city on 8 March. As the roads between Thailand and Burma were so inadequate, the capture of Rangoon harbour was critical for the Japanese to get reinforcements and supplies into Burma, particularly during the monsoon season due to commence in May. However, 600 ships of the Irrawady Flotilla Company, the main means of transport of produce between the north of Burma and Rangoon, were scuttled in Rangoon harbour to prevent them falling into Japanese hands, one of the first of the many scorched earth actions taken by the Allies to delay the Japanese advance and hinder future economic activity in occupied Burma.


[image: image]


[image: image]


At around this time, the US General Joe Stilwell, who, up to 1939 had been the US Military Attaché in China, became Chief of Staff to Chiang Kai-shek and commander of the Chinese Nationalist forces. These consisted of the so-called 5th and 6th Armies, 50,000 of whose troops had now entered north Burma. Stilwell arranged that all US supplies to the Nationalists should come under his control. By 8 April the first successful trial flight of US supplies was flown from Ledo in north-east Assam over a 15,000 foot high mountain range, the ‘Hump’, to Chunking in China, resulting in a regular service being established less than two weeks later. This operation was carried out by the American Volunteer Group.


By then large numbers of civilians (eg non-essential British, Anglo-Indian, Anglo-Burmese, Indians, Burmese who felt vulnerable, and other nationalities) had already left Burma by plane, ship, rail, or road, either to move further up-country in the direction of Mandalay or directly north-west via the mountainous Arakan region into India. One of the latter routes was via the Taungup Pass through the Arakan Hills to Akjab on the Arakan coast and then by land or, for a lucky few, by sea to India. It is estimated that eventually between 100,000 and 200,000 refugees reached India along the Arakan route (some say far more), with large numbers dying on the way. Following the Allied withdrawal from Rangoon, the Japanese brought in the 18 and 56 Divisions as reinforcements.


On 19 March, Lieutenant-General William Slim arrived at Prome, 150 miles north-west of Rangoon, to meet Alexander. Slim was to take over operational command of the British, Indian, Burmese and other units that would be combined under the title of 1st Burma Corps, or Burcorps. By now the RAF and Burma-based units of the American Volunteer Force (AVG) had withdrawn ahead of the retreating army, some even reaching India. The Japanese were left with control of the air over most of Burma.


The retreat was principally along the line of two river valleys, the Chinese 5th Army up the Sittang and Burcorps up the Irrawaddy. At Toungoo in the Sittang Valley on the Mandalay road, one of Stilwell’s Chinese divisions was left unsupported by the non-arrival of Chinese reinforcements. Burcorps attempted to assist the beleaguered Chinese with 17 Division and 7 Armoured Brigade units but suffered heavy casualties and could not reach them. The result was a critical defeat. Two Japanese divisions followed the Chinese northwards whilst another went north-east. Burcorps was then defeated at Schwedaung whilst trying to defend Prome, losing many tanks, vehicles and weapons. The Japanese air force also attacked airfields at Magwe and Akyab in the Arakan, destroying planes and forcing the remnants of the British air force to withdraw entirely back into India.
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Mandalay, the second largest city in Burma, was a busy rail terminus at which the line from Rangoon split, one line going north-east to Lashio on the Chinese border and the other going 250 miles north to Myitkyina, the largest town in north Burma, located on the Irrawaddy. Mandalay was heavily bombed on 3 April, fires starting throughout the city, which predominantly consisted of wooden buildings, destroying entire districts, the railway station, hospital and other key facilities, besides causing numerous casualties. The latter included some of the 100,000 civilian refugees from Rangoon that had been ordered off the roads to enable troops (and government officials) better freedom of movement along the routes to India. Within a few days and following further air raids, there were few prominent buildings in Mandalay that had not been razed to the ground.


On 17 April British troops blew up the Yenangyaung oil fields, petro-chemical plants and power station to prevent them falling into Japanese hands, Yenangyaung actually falling on the 19th. On 28 April, the Japanese in the Sittang Valley area followed up their victory at Toungoo by pushing an armoured column north-east of Mandalay to Lashio, the main town on the Burma Road, taking it from 3,000 Chinese who withdrew without a fight. Large elements of the Chinese 5th Army remaining west of Lashio were thus cut off from their main route back into China.


The defeats of the Chinese at Toungoo and Lashio, as well as other advances then being made by the Japanese, led to a formal decision being taken by Alexander to abandon Burma. It was agreed with Stilwell that the cut-off Chinese would withdraw north towards Myitkyina. Myitkyina, in addition to being at the end of the railway line from Mandalay was also connected to Mandalay mainly by river, as well as having an airfield that could be used for military transport. The intention was that Stilwell would ultimately join up with the Southern Chinese Army in the Chinese western province of Yunnan. Burcorps would go west to the Chindwin River port of Monywa, by railway or reasonable fair-weather road to Yeu, and then via a jungle track to Kalewa back on the River Chindwin at the southern end of the Kabaw valley, aiming towards Tamu on the border and finally to Imphal in adjoining Manipur. Burcorps retreated up the Irrawady where there was another major battle with the Japanese, Stilwell providing the Chinese 38 Division, under General Sun Li-jen, to assist Slim in return for the attempted assistance provided by Slim at Toungoo.


Burcorps reached Mandalay and with the Chinese 38 Division crossed the mile-wide Irrawaddy River on 30 April at nearby Sagaing, over the multi-span Ava Bridge, the only bridge crossing the Irrawaddy. After blowing up the bridge, (unfortunately only one span of it and thus not too difficult for the Japanese to repair), they were then able to continue north-west of the Irrawaddy River towards Monywa on the way to Kalewa. The Japanese occupied Mandalay on 1 May and captured Monywa on 2 May. Fortunately, Burcorps were able to drive the Japanese out of Monywa and by 3 May was at Ye-u, halfway between Mandalay and Kalewa. The monsoon was about to break, the River Chindwin well inside Burmese territory still had to be crossed. It was 225 miles to Tamu – their objective on the Indian border nearest to Imphal – and there were now no more roads going in the right direction, nor any bridges over streams or rivers. On the route, particularly from the Chindwin onwards, were some of the worst areas in the world for malaria, scrub typhus and similar tropical diseases. By 8 May the Japanese had captured Myitkyina.


Despite all these potential and actual set-backs, the Allies reached Kalewa on 9 May and the majority had crossed the Chindwin at the village of Shwegyin. On 10 May the Japanese caught up with the remaining troops and there was another fierce battle, the Allied rearguard finally managing to ensure everyone crossed. Large numbers of guns and vehicles, including 60 tanks, had to be left behind.


Thereafter, just before the really heavy monsoon rains started falling on 18 May, there was a long march on foot through the Kabaw valley to the Manipur border at Tamu, many men sick and debilitated by dysentery. They started arriving on 15 May and last of all, the rearguard, gaunt and haggard, marched in ranks into Tamu on 19 May. In the words of Slim, [6]: ‘They might look like scarecrows but they looked like soldiers too.’ It is estimated that over 13,000 soldiers were killed or died from wounds or disease en route. When they arrived in Imphal, the survivors of every rank were treated with disdain and arrogance by General Irwin, the 4 Corps Commander, matched only by a virtually total lack of preparation made for Burcorps’ arrival. Slim protested and was able to obtain minor concessions, but Irwin considered himself the more senior and, presumably, beyond reproach from anyone more junior.


At around 1,000 miles long and taking three and a half months (if measured as starting from the battle at Moulmein on 31 January), the retreat from Burma was the longest in the history of the British Army. Burcorps was broken up, Alexander departed, but Slim remained. Soon Major-General ‘Punch’ Cowan took over the 17 Indian Division.


Meanwhile, by early May, Stilwell had reached Indaw with a small number of American and Chinese staff, but could not proceed farther north to Myitkyina as the Japanese had already captured it. On 6 May the group went west towards the Chindwin River, being joined en route by the staff, including the nurses, of a mission hospital. Aided by Naga villagers, they passed over the Chindwin River near Homalin and, after being met by Allied troops with a doctor, food and ponies, reached Imphal on 15 May. On 24 May (incidentally the same day that General Sun Li-jen and the remnants of his 38 Division, which had maintained its discipline and effectiveness throughout, also reached Imphal) Stilwell flew to Delhi, where he was highly praised for his efforts. Two Chinese divisions had marched north towards Fort Herz in north Burma, but lost all discipline and were of no further value.


After Lashio, the Japanese advanced rapidly up the Burma Road as far as the Salween Gorge near the border with China. They were prevented from proceeding farther when the Chinese, after blowing up the only bridge, surprisingly defeated them. Additionally, the monsoon brought a natural end to that current phase of their advance.


Despite this, by the end of May 1942 the Japanese could nevertheless feel that they had met all their main objectives, including the cutting of the Burma Road. In fact, the Japanese now had control of the Far East. The Allies’ fear was that the Japanese would not stop in Burma. India and Ceylon (now Sri Lanka) might be next.


Alongside the suffering of the Allied retreat is that of the hundreds of thousands of civilian refugees also desperately trying to keep ahead of the Japanese advances through-out Burma. These were Indians, Burmese, Anglo-Indians, Anglo-Burmese, British families working for private and state organisations such as oil and timber companies, as well as others of a wide range of nationalities who had found themselves trapped in Burma. Initially, once departure by sea was no longer an option, these used rail, road and air to try to escape towards India. These eventually became clogged up by the sheer numbers involved, including retreating military units, which had priority when using the same few viable road and track routes leading to key mountain pass and river crossings. In fact, severe restrictions were eventually placed on refugee movements by the Burmese and Indian authorities, actions that led to many additional deaths. Even without restrictions, most refugees did not have the option to ride or be carried on what little transport was still available and the vast majority had to walk. Such refugees did not, of course, have the logistical, medical, transport and supply resources, as well as most not having the youth, strength and fitness of the combat units, and so fared far worse than them. This continued to be the case when the survivors arrived in India. Most of the refugees who reached India did so along its borders with Manipur and Naga Land, principally along the Kalewa/ Tamu/Imphal route. The remains of many of those refugees and soldiers who did not make it remained where they had fallen, to be found by the Japanese when they later invaded the region in early 1944.


Not all the refugees travelled the same western routes as Burcorps. An equally logical alternative was to head north towards Myitkyina and its airfield alongside many retreating Chinese troops. However, on 6 May a Japanese plane flew over the thousands of refugees milling around the airfield waving a red flag warning of impending bombing. The airfield was put out of action shortly afterwards, Myitkyina falling on 8 May. The only option for the refugees, now swollen by the inhabitants of the town and just as the monsoon was about to break, was to go north to Shimboyang – about 1000 miles from Rangoon! The route went over a trail extending 130 miles over the disease-ridden Hukawng Valley with its malarial swamps and many wide rivers, through the Pangsau Pass in the mountainous jungle of the Patkoi Range into northern Assam and then to the end of the railway and main Hump airstrip at Ledo. It was estimated that only half of the 40,000 refugees, excluding Chinese troops, that went along this route actually survived. Many of the dead resulted from a bureaucratic decision to close the trail of the escape route from May to October, keeping many refugees at the village of Shimboyang and providing totally inadequate support facilities for them. Stilwell’s troops and road builders advancing back into north Burma in 1942 came across many of the bodies of those left behind.


A Government of India estimate put the total number of ‘British Asiatic’ civilian refugees who arrived in India on all routes as between 450,000 and 500,000, with estimates of the dead ranging from 50,000 to 100,000.


Regrouping and consolidation


In June, Slim took over as Commander of 15 Corps with a headquarters located near Calcutta. 15 Corps consisted of 14 Division, under General Lloyd, based at Chittagong but facing the Japanese in the Arakan, and 26 Indian Division, based in Calcutta, responsible for maintaining internal security in Bengal and Behar. This was a very wide remit for a limited force with little available naval or air assistance. It became worse in August when Gandhi started his independence campaign. This resulted in great disruption to the main railway supply route from Calcutta through Bengal and Bihar to Assam. Slim did not have the resources to consider a serious offensive against the Japanese in Burma in the immediate future.


In July, Lieutenant-General Irwin became Commander of the Eastern Army, which included 15 and 4 Corps. Slim’s 15 Corps headquarters was moved to join Eastern Army Headquarters at Ranchi in Bihar. 14 and 26 Divisions were joined by 5 and 7 Divisions, and the Chinese General Sun and the two Chinese divisions in India also came under Slim’s control. Slim started to focus on improving morale, obtaining more and better supplies, equipment and facilities, and on training.


4 Corps on the Imphal plain in Manipur came under Lieutenant-General Geoffrey Scoones. It included a newly-formed 23 Indian Division and the 17 Indian Division, the latter reinforced following its heavy battle and sickness casualties during the retreat from Burma.


Slim discussed with Scoones the options for future offensive operations against the Japanese. They agreed that any such offensive would be best served by creating a major base at Imphal with a view to a possible advance after the 1944 monsoon. They believed that the Japanese, if they had any similar plans, would also hold off until then, so that if the Allies were better prepared, they could make the first move. Planning was commenced for such a base. To supply the Imphal troops, airmen and their subsequent replacements and reinforcements, military facilities, stores and workshops at Imphal and at its railhead at Dimapur in Assam would need to be substantially built up. Kohima, the half-way point in the hills on the road between them, would need to be correspondingly enhanced.


Throughout India, new Indian regiments and divisions were formed. The emphasis switched to jungle training and other issues such as the use of more appropriate lightweight transportable artillery, the increased use of heavy mortars, alternative means of transport such as mules, and ways of combating malaria and other jungle sicknesses. A long-range penetration brigade, the 77 Indian Infantry Brigade under Brigadier Orde Wingate, was formed. Existing units already in place were transformed, for example the 17 Indian Division at Imphal was changed to a light, more mobile, division.


Meanwhile, at Ledo in north-east Assam, Stilwell also consolidated and then commenced his own build-up of American and Chinese forces, to be based on the three Chinese Divisions (each equivalent to Allied brigade strength) already in India. These were known collectively as the Northern Combat Area Command (NCAC). Other Chinese troops were also flown in from China for supplying and training. With the loss of the Burma Road, Stilwell organised a substantial increase in the supplies being transported to the Nationalist Chinese by air over the Hump.


Partly to build up morale, orders were given to undertake a limited attack in the Arakan area of Burma. General Lloyd’s 14 Division, part of Slim’s 15 Corps but under command of General Irwin at Eastern Army Headquarters, was ordered to gain control of the craggy-hilled jungle-covered Mayu peninsula and to attack the Japanese garrison on the island of Akyab just south of it. The Mayu peninsula abuts the extreme south-east border between Assam and Burma, south of Chittagong and Cox’s Bazaar. Its central ridge proceeds farther south-east before petering out in the sea. It is bounded in the east by the Mayu River and on the west firstly by the River Naf and then the Indian Ocean. There were at that time no roads on the peninsula except for one from Maungdaw near the coast to Buthidaung on the River Mayu in the west, and only a few tracks on the peninsula. Lloyd’s attack was to be supported by some diversionary advances by 4 Corps from Imphal. Stilwell was also to make some advances southwards from Ledo.


The situation was hardly ideal for such an enterprise. The Imphal base was still swamped with thousands of refugees from Burma and similar numbers of labourers engaged on construction and similar tasks, all requiring food, drink, shelter and of course – in great numbers – medical attention. The monsoons were severe, disrupting supplies and lines of communication into Assam and Dimapur. Hospitals were overwhelmed by the number of sick, the new 23 Infantry Division alone being 5,000 men short at one stage. At any one time there could be 20,000 men still waiting to be evacuated away from Imphal.


First Arakan


What became known later as the ‘First Arakan’ campaign commenced on 21 September, 1942. The initial advance by 14 Division along a makeshift road built by engineers along the Mayu peninsular was successful. By 1 January the Division had travelled down most of the peninsula as far as, but excluding, the village of Donbaik near its southern end. Heavy rains washed away part of the makeshift road, forcing 14 Division to make a temporary halt. This gave the Japanese time to bring in reinforcements from Akyab, to build strong defences at Donbaik, and for another division to arrive from over the Mayu River. Although they tried for 10 weeks, 14 Division, despite receiving five additional brigades as reinforcements, was unable to overcome Donbaik, suffering heavy casualties in the process.


On 3 April, a Japanese column undertook a hook over the mountain ridge from the east and cut off two Allied brigades, killing one of their commanding officers in the process. Those brigades eventually fought their way out, assisted by artillery. Slim, who had arrived in the Arakan in March to observe what was going on, but who had no operational authority, was then appointed by Irwin to take over as Commander in the Arakan. In conjunction with Lomax, Slim ordered the Allied troops to withdraw back up the peninsula to an area north of Maungdaw.


On 8 April, the Japanese Commander-in Chief in Burma, General Iida, was replaced by General Kawabe. At the end of April, Irwin replaced Lloyd with General Lomax. It was around this time that the 77 Brigade under Wingate undertook its first incursion east of the Irrawaddy River. It did not achieve a great deal but at least showed that troops being supplied by air could live and fight in the jungle.


By now the 14 Division north of Maungdaw, in conjunction with the imminent May monsoon, had stopped the Japanese. The Division was later replaced by 5 and 7 Indian Divisions. Needless to say, the operation had not achieved the improvement in morale intended.


Meanwhile, Stilwell’s proposed southern advance from Ledo had not happened owing to a lack of co-operation from the Chinese divisions. Early in May, Stilwell moved his Headquarters to just within the Chinese border with north Burma. Then the monsoons came and further troop movements were stopped. On 21 May Irwin was replaced by General Sir George Giffard, who was given operational command of 11 Army Group operations along the Burma front. In June, Wavell was succeeded as Commander in Chief, India, by General Sir Claude Auchinleck. Wavell was appointed Viceroy of India.


Following the successful Japanese invasion of Burma, a 30,000 strong ‘Burma National Army’ under Aung San was set up by the Japanese puppet government of Burma. Some Burmese were even given military training in Japan. On 1 August the Burmese government declared war on Britain and the United States. During the Allied retreat numbers of lndian troops had deserted and, with sympathisers, formed an ‘Indian National Army’, the INA, known by the Allies as the ‘Jiffs’, under Subhas Chandra Bose, a former president of the Indian Congress Party. On 21 October, Bose created a ‘Government of Free India’. Both the Burma National Army and the INA undertook duties that might have otherwise have been fulfilled by the Japanese themselves, the INA sometimes accompanying the Japanese on combat missions.
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In February 1943 Wingate took a 3,000-strong jungle-trained Allied infantry force across the Chindwin and further into Burma. This long-range penetration force, or Chindits as they became known, operated independently of other units except for being totally reliant on supply by air. Their major success was in cutting the railway running north of Mandalay towards Myitkyina and putting it out of action for several weeks. But the cost was heavy, with a third of the force being lost through disease and enemy action before they returned to India in May. However, such behind-the-lines operations were then considered an important feature of all future offensive plans, not least as Japanese troops that might otherwise be used on other fronts had to be allocated to deal with them.




CHAPTER 3


Quebec Conference; Creation of 14th Army; Imphal and the surrounding area; Dimapur; Kohima; 2nd Arakan Campaign


The Quebec Conference


In August 1943, a conference was held in Quebec, Canada, attended by US President Roosevelt, British Prime Minister Churchill, and their respective staffs. Amongst many key issues, the need for unified operations against the Japanese to be taken out of the hands of GHQ India was discussed. This led to the appointment of Lord Louis Mountbatten, previously a British acting Vice-Admiral, as the Supreme Allied Commander of a new South-East Asia Command (SEAC). Under him were to be Admiral Sir James Somerville, General Sir George Giffard and Air Chief Marshal Sir Richard Pierce, commanding the Navy, Army and Air Forces respectively.


Despite the fact that the Nationalist Chinese had as their clear main aim the increase of the strength of their own forces in anticipation of a future war against the Chinese Communists once the Japanese had been defeated, the US confirmed that its priority was to continue to support them. This had a strategic advantage for the British and Indian forces in that so long as the Chinese Nationalists remained a possible threat to the Japanese, this tied up considerable numbers of the enemy who might otherwise be sent against them further south. There was also the possibility that the Chinese might defeat the Japanese or at least re-occupy parts of China, from which the US could launch air attacks directly against the Japanese mainland. This meant the US continuing to send millions of dollars of supplies over the Hump to Chunking. It also meant re-establishing a road link to the Chinese border from Ledo in Assam via Myitkyina, to cross the Irrawaddy River at Bhamo and join the old Burma Road where it crossed the Chinese border. This would replace the earlier Burma Road supply route where it now passed through Japanese-occupied territory.


A decision was made to go on the offensive and firstly recover the north and then eventually all of Burma by means of a multi-pronged attack. The principal components were that Chiang Kai-shek would attack with his Yunnan divisions (each, as previously described, equivalent in strength to a British/Indian brigade) from the east, Stilwell would advance with his NCAC Chinese troops from Assam southwards down the Ledo Road, 4 Corps would invade from Imphal in the west, there would be a diversionary attack by 15 Corps in the Arakan, and other SEAC forces would undertake a series of major amphibious landings and create beachheads along the Arakan coast, ending up at Rangoon. The Chindits would be used to cause problems behind Japanese lines.
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On 13 September, Chiang Kai-shek was elected President of China and on 7 October Mountbatten arrived in India.


Creation of 14th Army


On 15 October Slim was appointed commander of a new 14th Army comprising General Scoone’s 4th Corps in Imphal and 15th Corps, now under Lieutenant-General Philip Christison. 4 Corps consisted of the 17th Indian Light Division and the 20th and 23 Indian Divisions. 15 Corps consisted of the 5th and 7th Indian Divisions already on the Mayu peninsula in the Arakan and the 81st West African Division just about to go into the Kaladan Valley.


Also available to 14 Army were the 3rd Indian Division now under Wingate, the 26th Indian Division being re-supplied in the Chittagong area after a stay in the Arakan, 33 Indian Corps, comprising 2, 17 and 36 Divisions, being held in reserve in Bombay and the 25th Indian Division, which could became available later.


Slim was therefore able to concentrate on the Japanese and leave internal security in India to someone else. Stilwell, who had had personal differences with Giffard, agreed to serve under Slim. Supporting the 14th Army were Air Chief Marshal Sir John Baldwin, commanding 3rd Tactical Air Force and Brigadier-General William Old, commanding the US Troop Carrier Command.


The initial tasks of the 14th Army under the code name ‘Capital’ were firstly for 5 and 7 Divisions of 15 Corps to advance further along the Mayu peninsular in the Arakan as far as the Maungdaw/Buthidaung road, and secondly a limited advance by 23 Division of 4 Corps at Imphal from Tamu, crossing the River Chindwin at Sittaung. The reason for the latter was to act as a diversion for an advance by Stilwell’s troops down the route of the Ledo Road in Assam to occupy northern Burma as far down as the Mogaung/Myitkyana area. Stilwell’s advance was to be supported by a Chindit force dropped behind Japanese lines to disrupt their supply and communications. These operations would be coordinated with an attack by the Nationalist Chinese from Yunnan.


Opposing the Allies were three Japanese ‘armies’ (each of equivalent Allied Corps strength) and an Air Division, all under General Kawabe, the Japanese overall commander of the Burma Area, based in Rangoon. There was the 33rd Army under General Honda in North Burma, the 28th Army with 54 and 55 Divisions under General Sakurai on the Arakan front and between those two armies was the 15th Army with three divisions under General Mutaguchi, whose headquarters were at Maymo.


The Allies’ advance in northern Burma was considered the most significant operation. Its primary purposes were to assist in preventing air attacks by the Japanese on the US supplies being flown to the Chinese Nationalists and to enable the construction of the new Burma road route from Ledo to the Chinese border to be completed. This was work for Stilwell’s NCAC, which included the Chinese 22 and 38 Divisions, Wingate’s Chindits, the US equivalent to the Chindits known as Merrill’s Marauders, Kachin levies and other native forces. Stilwell theoretically had another Chinese division (30 Division) in reserve, although in practice it was still in training. Stilwell therefore had 55,000 effective troops and was opposed by Honda’s 33rd Army with around the same number but with air support from Rangoon. Stilwell made tentative moves southward as early as the autumn of 1943, initially led by General Sun’s 38th Division. This crossed from Assam into Burma, moved south-east and occupied the top end of the Hukawng Valley, half way to Myitkyana, with the help of Merrill’s Marauders and a Chinese tank unit. At around this time Mountbatten moved his headquarters from Delhi to Kandy in Ceylon.


By late November the Quebec Conference intention to have a series of amphibious landings was abandoned as all the ships and equipment that had been earmarked for these operations were reallocated to the proposed Anzio landings on the west coast of Italy. The Chinese Nationalists used this as an excuse not to advance from Yunnan. However, in addition to the measures being taken by Slim’s 14 Army further south, Stilwell continued with his advance from Ledo and the Chindits prepared for their second long-range penetration in support of Stilwell.


Imphal and the surrounding area


As planned between Slim and Scoones in 1942, by the end of 1943 the 14th Army had dramatically increased the military facilities at Imphal, Kohima and Dimapur, in anticipation of a future offensive against the Japanese in Burma. The various locations were hives of activity. Slim [6]:


The Imphal plain … [was] … a natural half-way house and staging place for any great military movement in either direction between India and Burma.


One aspect of the Imphal plain had greatly changed since the retreat. Instead of the dripping trees, sodden ground, bombed-out buildings and muddy tracks that had greeted us then, there were now orderly basha camps, hutted hospitals, supply dumps, ordnance depots, engineer parks and wide tarmac roads. Camps of every kind and sort were dotted over the six hundred square miles of the plain, but most were clustered round the villages of Imphal itself and Palel, twenty-five miles south. These administrative establishments had all been sited in the most suitable and accessible spots for their various purposes, being protected from air attacks by being dispersed, but with no thought of defence against attack by land. As a result they were spread over large areas and were almost invariably overlooked by [nearby] high ground. In these camps, and scattered along the roads leading north into India and south into Burma, were some sixty or seventy thousand Indian non-combatants, mostly labourers.


The Imphal Plain, because it was the site of an old mountain lake and hence relatively flat, had been found to be ideal for military airfields. However it was very marshy and although there were six airfields, only two were operational during each monsoon season.


Our only significant line of communication was the road our engineers had so magnificently built from the railhead at Dimapur, (the sprawling railhead base that had been hacked out of the jungle at Dimapur, a hundred and thirty miles north of Imphal), up to Kohima and on to Imphal. We were laboriously extending two prongs from Imphal. One was still poor and went down the valley of the Manipur River [through Bishenpur to Tiddim reaching the Chindwin at Kalewa] and the other better one, south-east [via Palel to Tamu] into the Kabaw Valley. The roads ran of necessity north and south, parallel to the Japanese front, and at no great distance from it.


Other routes into Imphal included a poor road coming in north-east from Ukhrul and an undeveloped Silchar-Bishenpur track coming into Imphal from the west. There was also a footpath that came down the side of an Iril River Valley from the north. There were thus six routes arranged like ‘unevenly spaced spokes of a wheel … converging on the Imphal Plain to meet at the hub, Imphal itself.’


The three divisions of 4 Corps were deployed with two forward, one at the end of each of the roads to the south: the 17th Division, veterans of the retreat, were on the right around Tiddim in the Chin Hills; the 20th Division on the left in the Palel-Tamu area. One division, the 23rd at this time, concentrated about Imphal as a striking force. They were supported by the 254 Indian Tank Brigade, consisting of two regiments, a British unit equipped with Lee-Grant tanks and an Indian one with Stuarts.


The divisions were rotated between front line and reserve.


In January 1944, when the Japanese were preparing their offensive, our dispositions on the front where the Japanese would eventually attack were thus two widely separated divisions forward at Tiddim and Tamu and a third many miles behind in Imphal.


The 17th Division under Cowan had been engaged in sporadic skirmishing with the Japanese 33rd Division inside the Burmese border for some time.


The whole country around Tiddim where the 17th Division was based is a chaos of jungle-matted, knife-edged ridges, running up to peaks of over eight thousand feet, split by precipitous valleys and pierced from the Indian side only by the fantastic mountain road from Imphal that the troops themselves had built.


Dimapur


Dimapur with its strategic rail and air links had become crucial for the forthcoming advance back into Burma. Besides its all-weather airfield and road links to the rest of India to the west, as previously described Dimapur was the start of the principal road south-east to the Imphal Plain where the build-up of Allied troops had been underway for several months.


In addition to planes using the airfield, the now American-run railway line from Calcutta to Ledo via Dimapur was used to provide supplies to fill AVG planes flying over the Hump into China and for the American and Chinese forces training in preparation for their advance into north Burma. The throughput of the railway line had by the end of 1943 risen from its pre-war 600 tons to 2,800 tons per day, later to be raised to well over 4,000 tons with the assistance of six US railway battalions using modern equipment. Supplies and equipment were later also routed through Dimapur to Ledo for the eventual American and Chinese advances. The latter included the construction by the Americans of the Ledo Road through dense jungle-covered valleys and hills towards Myitkyina in north Burma, intended eventually to link up with the old Burma Road at the Burma Chinese border. Dimapur was also a base for supporting Chindit operations.


Dimapur had thus become a large staging post located over an area roughly ten miles long and one mile wide, across and along the railway line. The area was now a major supply centre, an enormous hutted advance base, with depots and other military installations on most of the roads leading out of Dimapur, located in areas cut out of the jungle. The base was staffed by an estimated 80,000 administrators, clerks, supply personnel, labourers etc, of whom very few were combatants who had seen active service or even been trained as fighting soldiers. An eye witness described many of the military buildings in Dimapur (which would be typical also of Kohima and Imphal) [4]:


Constructed almost entirely of bamboo, the plant that is seen growing round the edges of paddy fields and in the jungles throughout South East Asia. The floors were of concrete, finished with a cement screed. The main roof and wall supports were bamboo poles some six inches in diameter and up to eighteen feet long. One end of the poles would be sunk into the ground, while the other end would be supported by cross beams tied securely to the uprights with tough bamboo lashings.


Huge sheets of woven bamboo were fixed between the upright poles to form the walls and provide a hunting ground for the little gecko lizards, which spent most of their time motionless on the walls waiting and watching for flies or spiders to provide them with a meal. The walls had open squares for windows. These were usually kept uncovered during the day but would be closed at night by squares of woven bamboo to keep out the night flying insects which would have been attracted by the lights. Roofs were constructed of thatched or woven reeds, or of rice straw.


Kohima


The quiet little pre-war administrative backwater hill station of Kohima had become a large and highly significant ‘half-way’ staging point between the supply centre at Dimapur 46 miles to the north-west of it and 4 Corps at Imphal, 88 miles to the south. Although Deputy-Commissioner Charles Pawsey remained responsible for civilian matters and had set up an efficient intelligence network in the Naga villages, Kohima was now part of a 253 Military Sub-Area with its own military Administrative Commandant. The whole area was dotted with stores, bashas, vehicle parks, tented camps, supply and maintenance depots, as well as bakeries, transport units, engineers, workshops and so on, mainly along the Kohima Ridge. There was so much traffic that the main Kohima road junction near Milestone 46 had a Military Traffic Control Post (TCP).


Besides all the men needed to make the military installations function, there was a large local labour force engaged on road maintenance. This was essential if men, supplies and equipment were to be able to move to and from Dimapur, Imphal and the surrounding areas. Most of the men were not normally, of course, combat troops, although many were in uniform. In the morning, when the usual chilled mist lifted, the smoke of numerous fires could be seen and in the evening after dark with no black-out, a wide area sparkled with lights for several hours.


There were now two large military hospitals at Kohima. One was located at the 3rd Assam Rifles barracks east of the Treasury, and another was on a long treeless spur running north-west of Summerhouse Hill called Hospital (or IGH) Spur, located west of and below the steeply wooded, similarly named, Hospital Ridge.


A snapshot of what it was like to be nurse at that time was provided by an Auxiliary Nurse at one of the hospitals, [9]:


From May 1943, I was based at 49 IGH (IT) [Indian General Hospital-Indian Troops] in Kohima. This was a 1000-bedded hospital with a British Commanding Officer, British doctors, British Matron and British senior nursing staff of the Queen Alexandra’s Military Nursing Service [QAMNS]. The junior staff were auxiliary nurses recruited in India. We were a mixed bag: some of us were British girls born in India of British parents; some were Anglo-Indians and some Anglo-Burmese. There were about 50 nursing staff in all. The medical orderlies were Indian and so were our domestic staff.


Our patients were mostly cases of tropical diseases such as amoebic dysentery and malaria with complications. There were also the victims of road accidents, the latter mainly southern Indians from military transport units who had never driven in hills such as those in Nagaland before.


We stayed in basha accommodation in Kohima Village. These were bamboo huts plastered with mud. They were light and able to withstand the torrential monsoon rains that lasted more than three months.


In our spare time we went for walks in the forest, visited the various army messes in the evenings to listen to music and dance, often also going to the Deputy-Commissioner’s Bungalow for social events. There were also regular film screenings of films sent to the British troops from elsewhere in India. These were projected onto a white sheet erected on the back of a lorry, with us sitting on the ground to watch.


A mile or two south of Kohima Village [at the site of the Assam Rifles Barracks] was another hospital, the 45 BGH [British General Hospital]. It was a 700-bedded hospital with a British Commanding Officer, doctors and staff.


The two Kohima area hospitals could not have been considered adequate for future purposes because in September 1943 I was one of seven auxiliary nurses posted even further south of Kohima to 53 IGH at Kigwema, Milestone 54. There we helped start up a new 1000-bed hospital with the same mix of staff as at Kohima.
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British and Indian sappers had done a wonderful job hacking and hewing into the heavily forested Naga hills to build our hospital and living quarters. The wards were well spaced out with our mess and living area a little distance away. Inevitably they were all bashas. Once established, we received the same sort of medical and road accident patients as before, but towards the end of 1943 we started to receive overspill surgical cases from 14 BGH at Imphal.


Despite the primitive living conditions in bashas, the monsoon rains, leaches, meagre and monotonous diet and recurrent malaria, we also had some happy times as we were generally a very united, happy family.


The British General Hospitals [BGH] and Indian General Hospitals [IGH] were for soldiers of the British and Indian armies. However, as there were a large number of British officers in the Indian army, those went to the British General Hospitals for treatment, hence the term (IGH) (IT) – Indian General Hospital, Indian Troops (including Indian officers but not British officers) only. My future husband, an Indian from what became Pakistan, qualified as a doctor in India but took a post-graduate psychiatry degree in England. Then, along with the rest of his course, he joined the British army as a doctor Lieutenant. My husband soon found himself back in India. When he was injured shortly after his arrival, he justifiably was admitted to a British General Hospital where his being there had to be explained to all those who might otherwise question his presence!


(The interviewee was adamant that her Kigwema Hospital was 53 IGH, not the one on Hospital Spur at Kohima, as stated by other commentators. This makes sense, as it would be expected that the newer hospital would have the higher number i.e. 53 IGH compared with 49 IGH.)


The main Dimapur/Imphal Road, the main lifeline for Imphal, had been improved to a moderate standard in the previous two years, but required regular maintenance under heavy traffic and poor weather conditions. As previously described, at Milestone 40½ there was a branch road south to a Naga village called Jotsoma which then returned to the main road at Milestone 43½. For ease of reference some of the more prominent features along the road had been given names by the military, in this case the junctions had become known as Paternoster Row and Lancaster Gate, respectively.


The track from Kohima to Jessami 60 miles to the east was still being improved. This track also branched south, linking Kharasom, Ukhrul and Sangshak until it reached Humine, only 10 miles from the River Chindwin in Burma. Bull-dozed improvements were being undertaken by engineer units based in Kohima.


There was a 24 Reinforcement Camp (also referred to as the Transit Camp) in tents on the track towards Merema, under Lieutenant-Colonel Malcolm Hepworth, 16 Punjab Regiment. Besides administrative staff, this contained constantly changing numbers of mainly individual British and Indian troops (i.e. not units), in transit between Dimapur and Imphal; plus men who had recovered from treatment in the local military hospitals.


The only permanent combat unit in Kohima until early in 1944 was the Assam Rifles who were more of a civilian policing force, much of whose work was in the surrounding countryside amongst the villages.


Summerhouse Hill (or Garrison Hill as it later became more commonly known), had been little changed by the Kohima build-up, although no doubt there was a lot more socialising at the Club House and entertaining in the bungalows. Presumably because of topographical or access difficulties there were also no changes on the next unoccupied hill south of Summerhouse Hill, Kuki Piquet, (named after the Kuki tribe, who sided with the British against the Nagas in an uprising in 1879 and who had been placed as guards on this small hill to protect the approaches to the British camp). However, elsewhere along Kohima Ridge things were dramatically different and the remaining hills on the Ridge had been given names reflecting their military functions. For example, after Kuki came the larger Field Supply Hill, also known as Supply Hill, which, besides containing numerous storage and other bashas, had been partially cleared of trees and was crossed by several paths and vehicle tracks. This was followed by Detail Issue Hill (DIS), also known as Detail Hill, which was a small oval-shaped hill around 160 yards long and 35 yards wide from which some trees had also been removed, covered with bashas containing ammunition, rations and stores, as well as the large ovens of a bakery. It had a minor service road, which ended up running through the gulley between it and Supply Hill.


Then, on the south side of a track leading west from the main Dimapur/Imphal Road towards a rifle range, was General Purpose Transport Ridge, known as GPT Ridge. This was a long south-westerly ridge, not as steep-sided as the others, with many bashas amongst trees and lantana bushes, used by what were described as General Purposes Transport Companies. Finally, just across the main road from Detail Hill and overlooking it from the south-east, extensive ammunition and petrol dumps had been installed on Jail Hill named after its pre-existing civilian jail buildings.


The total length of Kohima Ridge from Summerhouse Hill to GPT Ridge was approximately a mile in a straight line running more or less from north to south, and the width, although varying, was generally of the order of 400 yards.


Further down the main Dimapur/Imphal Road, on its eastern side mid-way between Milestones 48 and 49 and not forming part of Kohima Ridge, was an area of workshops, Workshop Ridge. That was the end of the enhancements in the south Kohima area. Neither Aradura Spur nor Mount Pulebadze had been utilised by the military.


In Kohima actual conflict must still have seemed too far away to concern anyone directly. On a typical day everyone would have been carrying out their normal tasks: stores were loaded and unloaded, doctors and nurses tended the sick, units such as the Assam Rifles would have been drilling and using the rifle range, maintenance gangs would be out on the roads. Pawsey and his staff would have been catching up on administrative work or out visiting Naga villages, and so on. In the evening men would congregate in their messes or go to the Club. At weekends those considered senior or important enough might be playing tennis, going for walks and having drinks in the Club House, perhaps watching the sun go down behind Mount Pulebadze and the village lights coming on across the hills.


2nd Arakan


In December, Slim’s 15 Corps under Christison had begun its offensive down the Mayu peninsula of the Arakan. The operation became known as the ‘Second Arakan’. By this time the Japanese had built a strongly-bunkered and tunnelled defensive line which they called the ‘Golden Fortress’ across the peninsula, including the central north-south mountain range, on a west-east line along the Maungdaw to Buthidaung road. It was manned by 55 Division, under Lieutenant-General Hanaya.


Christison sent the 5th Indian Division, under Major-General Harold Briggs, down the western side of the central mountain spur and the 7th Indian Division, under Major-General Frank Messervy, down the eastern side. By 9 January, Maungdaw had been captured by the 5th Division. Early on 4 February, the 5 and 7 Divisions, after overcoming all Japanese forward positions on the Golden Fortress and when about to launch their major attack on the main bulk of the defensive line, were subjected to the Japanese ‘Ha‑Go’ offensive. Its intention was to defeat the present Allied troops and at the same time attempt to have some of the Allied troops being held in reserve at Imphal diverted to the Arakan battles instead. Coinciding with a diversionary frontal attack from Hanaya, and unknown to the Allies, 5,000 Japanese slipped through a gap between two of Messervy’s units and undertook a wide swing through the jungle behind the Allied positions. They split into several columns and waited.


On 6 February, in the early morning mist, the Japanese behind 7 Division’s positions attacked. They broached the perimeter of Messervy’s headquarters, secured a gap through the peninsula mountain range called Ngakyedauk Pass, and trapped 7 Division. The Japanese then cut 5 Division’s supply route.


By now, the Allies had realised the value of creating defensive boxes supplied from the air. Messervy and his staff broke out after a five-hour battle and retreated to an open area where the divisional supplies, transport and so on were located. The headquarters troops and administration troops were joined by 9 Brigade and some artillery and tanks, forming what became known as ‘the Admin Box’. The other brigades of 7 Division formed similar defences. With the assistance of air supplies dropped at night, or by day if supported by fighters, they each successfully held off Japanese attacks for almost two weeks, even when subjected to air attacks and heavy artillery bombardments.


By 19 February the Japanese had lost supremacy in the air to Spitfires, were running short of supplies, and had found that they had insufficient anti-aircraft guns, artillery and anti-tank weapons. Also, many of the troops had been sent into battle with inadequate food and water supplies and towards the end suffered accordingly. The Japanese lost their momentum and were then themselves encircled by the reserve 26 Indian Division, under Lomax, that had arrived as reinforcement from the north. On 23 February, even Ngakyedauk Pass had been recaptured (in fact the whole of the February battles became known collectively as ‘the Battle of Ngakyedauk Pass’). On 24 February, Hanaya ordered the Japanese to withdraw back to the Golden Fortress, which they did, with at least 4,600 men killed. The 5th and 7th Divisions then attacked the Japanese until they were relieved by the 26th Indian and a newly-arrived British 36th Division.


This action had confirmed in practice the viability of air-supplied ‘boxes’ in jungle warfare. On the other hand, the Allies had committed two reserve divisions to the area, just before – unknown to them – a major Japanese offensive against Imphal was about to commence (see next chapter) and so the Japanese had achieved one of their aims. Conversely, the Japanese themselves had to commit more troops to the area to resist further Allied advances.


Meanwhile operations were proceeding apace in northern Burma. Stilwell’s NCAC Chinese troops had advanced further down the Hukawaung Mogaung Valley towards Myitkyina and the new Ledo Road had been advanced 75 miles south-east from Ledo by US engineering units with heavy earth-moving equipment. By 1 March the Chindit’s 16 Brigade had crossed the Chindwin River in Burma on its way east towards Indaw, on the railway line halfway between Myitkyina and Mandalay and a few days later the Chindit’s 77 Brigade were flown into two areas called ‘Broadway’ and ‘Piccadilly’, northeast of Indaw. On 21 April, Chiang Kai-Shek’s troops, the first of what would be twelve Nationalist divisions, entered the conflict at last, crossing the Salween River in north Burma from Yunnan just over the border in China.




CHAPTER 4


Japanese strategy and mobilisation for invasion of India; preliminary Allied preparations


Japanese strategy


The Japanese now had three immediate principal concerns. Firstly, they were well aware that the Allied build-up in Manipur and Assam could only mean a serious attack into Burma, although they did not know when. The Japanese 31 Division commander, Lieutenant-General Sato (of whom more shortly), when asked just after the War whether the Japanese thought that 4 Corps planned to take the offensive across the Chindwin early in 1944, answered [10]:


It was not thought that any large-scale Allied offensive would develop across the Chindwin until Autumn 1944. According to our intelligence estimates, 4 Corps was not strong enough to launch an attack at the beginning of that year and it would take a considerable time to bring up sufficient reinforcements for any general advance from the Assam front.


Japanese opinion was that it would be inconsistent with Admiral Mountbatten’s policy to commit his troops to the offensive at this period, as from the time of the formation of SEAC, he had gained a reputation among the Japanese for caution and for systematic planning of staged operations.


I therefore believed defence would be the Allies’ chief concern.


However, notwithstanding such high-level views, it remained a real possibility that the Allied attack could take place in the months before the start of the next monsoon season.


The Japanese second concern was the need to cut the US-run railway line from Calcutta to Ledo in north Assam from where supplies were being sent to China. They were thirdly concerned about the activities of Stilwell’s NCAC troops in the north of Burma engaged on what appeared, rightly as it turned out, to be the construction of a possible alternative road supply route from Ledo into China.


The Japanese High Command decided that they would make a pre-emptive strike against the Allied forces at Imphal. The Japanese Burma Area Army under Kawabe included the 15th Army under Lieutenant-General Mutaguchi located at its Headquarters at Maymo. It consisted of three divisions; 15 Division, under Lieutenant-General Yamauchi, 31 Division, under Lieutenant-General Sato and 33 Division, under Lieutenant-General Yanagida. At full strength, the three divisions with support units, artillery and tanks, would be 70,000 men. 15 Army could also call upon the support of the as yet untried 1st Indian National Army Division. Even if the latter proved an inadequate fighting force, it could be used for garrison and administrative duties and so release more Japanese fighting troops.


Various plans were made, including initially for 15 Army to occupy Kohima, but only after the taking of Imphal. However, when the tactical importance of Kohima was more fully appreciated (that seizing the town would prevent the Allies sending down reinforcements to Imphal as well as prevent those in Imphal escaping to Dimapur), it was decided that a whole division, Sato’s 31st Division, should be tasked with capturing Kohima at the same time as the advance by the other two divisions on Imphal.


In an account given by Takahide Hasegawa, [11], Colonel Kato represented his 31 Division commander, Sato, at a conference with Mutaguchi and Kawabe in December 1943, when the precise role of the 31st Division was being finalised. When Mutaguchi asked Kato what Sato’s plan was after capturing Kohima, Kato replied that it was to hold it with most of 31 Division to stop any reinforcements getting through to Imphal and then to send a regiment to Dimapur. Kawabe apparently said nothing at this time, perhaps as this was not part of his own immediate orders – but also wishing to keep options open.


Also in December, a Japanese patrol specially trained at the Nakana spy school in Tokyo, operating under a Lieutenant Nishida of 58 Regiment, 31 Division, entered the Somra Hills west of the Chindwin River. It meticulously recorded the trails and tracks leading westwards, including the previously noted jeep track being improved by the Allies from Kohima via Jessami to the Chindwin. The reconnaissance was to prove vital to 31 Division’s later rapid advance towards Kohima. Indeed, during their advance, the leading units of 31 Division even carried with them bridge sections prefabricated to Nishida’s measurements, to enable them to more easily make stream and river crossings.


Mobilisation


Executive orders for the Imphal offensive from Tarauchi, the Japanese Supreme Commander in Tokyo, reached Kawabe in January 1944. On about 10 February the 15th Army ordered the strategic deployment of its 15, 31 and 33 Divisions, supported by the 1st INA Division, to attack and take control of Imphal and Kohima. This was just as the Ha-Go offensive in the Arakan was being launched with the primary intention of diverting Allied reserve troops from Imphal onto the Mayu peninsula.


To conceal their intentions, only the minimum strength was to be kept in the front line until just before the actual advance started. River-crossing preparations were to be kept strictly secret, and attempts were to be made to persuade the Allies that the Japanese Army was merely constructing strong defensive positions along the River Chindwin, not making any preparations for an offensive.


15 Army’s divisons were to attack across the Burmese border in several columns, each separating into smaller columns as they approached their designated targets. In the south, the Japanese 33 Division, with the majority of artillery and tanks, would attack Imphal in three columns from the south and south-east. Initially the Division was to carry out a surprise attack against 4 Corps’ 17 Division in the Tiddim-Tonzang area. A part of 33 Division was to go on the offensive in the Moreh area to attract Allied units to the area and deceive them into believing this was merely a local incursion. Then 31 and 15 Divisions were to cross the Chindwin from the Homalin-Paungbyin Front. 15 Division was to attack with its main force along the front north-east of Imphal, part of it attacking the Imphal-Kohima road near what they called ‘Mission’ at Milestone 105. 31 Division, advancing with three columns through the Somra Hills, was to attack and occupy Kohima with its main force to prevent reinforcements reaching Imphal. 33 Division was then to launch an offensive against Bishenpur and the Palel area. The Imphal operations were to be completed in about one month and then the Kohima front reinforced from Imphal.


Allied preliminary preparations


By early February the Allies were aware of increased Japanese movements on the Burma side of the border in the Kabaw Valley and Chindwin River areas, east of Imphal and Kohima. In fact initially there was not a great deal of concern about Kohima as it was believed that no more than a Japanese regiment was likely to advance there, moving slowly over the difficult country. That would give ample time for a warning to be given and for a counter-attack to be organised. Already in the Kohima area were units of a Shere State Battalion, (raw troops of the Royal Nepalese Army based in Kohima), Assam Rifles (also based in Kohima), assisted by a ‘V’ Force network consisting of local tribesmen, operating as ‘watch and ward’ scouts under British Indian Army officers with wireless transmitters. They were to provide the required warnings by watching the jungle tracks leading through the Somra Hills at various locations.


Nevertheless, it was eventually decided to strengthen the Allied presence. The 800-plus strong 1st Battalion, Assam Regiment, an un-brigaded unit under Lieutenant-Colonel W F ‘Bruno’ Brown, seconded from the 8th Punjab Regiment, was the first battalion of a new regiment created in 1942, strengthened initially by recruits from the Assam Rifles. It was manned mainly by British officers but consisted of troops recruited from all over Assam, including some from the Kohima area. After resting following 17 months of patrolling alongside the River Chindwin, by early February it was training in the Brahmaputra Valley. On 18 February, after receiving orders from 4 Corps, the Assam Regiment arrived in Dimapur on route to Kohima. Brown was briefed by 4 Corps at Imphal. He was told that the 50th Indian Parachute Brigade was to be brought from India to operate in the Ukhrul area in a ground role. The Brigade would have to leave one of its battalions behind and was to be brought up to strength by the inclusion of the Assam Regiment. Meanwhile, the Assam Regiment was to take command of a company of the Burma Regiment under Major Norman Giles of the Black Watch, at a village called Phakekedzumi, (known as Phek), on a track about 60 miles east of Kohima. They were then to liaise with the forward screens of ‘V’ Force and Assam Rifle units watching for signs of Japanese movements in the Somra Hills and to replace units of the State Shere Battalion engaged in similar activities. They were particularly required to establish defensive bases at the Naga villages of Jessami near Phek and at Kharasom 18 miles by track further south from Jessami. The Regiment was to send out mobile patrolling forces to discover, and where practical harass, any Japanese they came across.


By 22 February the 1st Battalion of the Assam Regiment had arrived at the 57th Reinforcement Camp in Kohima. Brown rejoined it and gave his officers their operational orders. That evening the officers of the Battalion were invited by Pawsey to a going-away party at his bungalow. The nurses from the Kohima hospitals were invited. At this time, in the tranquility of the Kohima evening and the attractive surroundings of Pawsey’s bungalow gardens, the possibility of major conflict must still have seemed remote. Nevertheless, Brown insisted that his officers wore full battle uniform, which resulted in some good-natured comment from the other guests. None would have known that this was the last social event ever to be held at the bungalow and the last to be attended by all those officers together.


In the early hours of 23 February ‘A’ Company and a 3-inch mortar attachment left Kohima. They were transported by lorries for the first few miles along the Jessami track, with the aim ultimately, as ordered, of establishing a garrison at Kharasom. The accompanying trucks managed to get 10 miles along the track until stopped by a broken bridge.


On 24 February, the rest of the Battalion, with the exception of the Transport Platoon which remained behind in Kohima, started following ‘A’ Company along the track towards Jessami. After catching up with them, the third day out brought ‘B’ Company, now at the head of the Battalion column, to the Laniye River and after one final sharp climb they reached Jessami. ‘B’ and ‘A’ Companies were followed by Brown and Battalion Headquarters. After a short break, ‘A’ Company carried on towards Kharasom. The Battalion, less ‘A’ Company, set up a bivouac at a temporary location before setting to work on the main defensive position at the junction of two jeep tracks a few hundred yards south of the village. The troops started constructing linked trenches, foxholes and outer and inner bunkers, surrounded by barbed wire. Supplies for use and stockpiling started to be delivered daily from Kohima by the Motor Transport Platoon in Kohima. The defensive redoubt was soon well-stocked and protected.


A’ Company had meanwhile continued on to Kharasom, arriving later on the 28th. After temporarily occupying an area of flat ground to the north of the village, a defensive position was selected on a small bamboo jungle and scrub-covered oval hill about 300 yards north of the village. The oval feature was about 150 yards long, looked over the surrounding countryside and there was a good water supply nearby. There was open ground on the eastern side sloping gently down about forty yards to the track to Jessami. The track joined another about 100 yards away on the southern side of the perimeter that went twenty-five miles south to Ukhrul. On the western side, there was a steep jungle slope towards the Laniye River. The 100-strong unit started digging-in, placing tripwires and stockpiling ammunition, rations and water. Patrols were sent out but found no sign of any Japanese. The preparations were completed by 5 March.


Back at Jessami reconnaissance patrols had been sent out over a wide area forward and to the flanks of the position to cover all the tracks in the Somra Hills for up to 10 miles north-east and 10 south-east of Jessami. One patrol penetrated deep into Burmese territory. Another observed evidence of previous Japanese incursions in a few of the local villages, thought to be from the occasional patrols the Japanese may have been making across the border (but possibly, in fact, originating from Nishida’s December 1943 reconnaissance patrol).


Elsewhere, Stilwell’s NCAC advance to Mitykina continued. Merrill’s Marauders had marched 140 miles from Assam and had set up a roadblock behind and to the south of the 18th Japanese Division under Tanaka, part of Honda’s 33rd Army located in the Hukawng Valley. A battle started on 1 March and finished when the Japanese withdrew having lost 800 men, against eight dead and 17 wounded Marauders. Meanwhile the Japanese 31 Infantry Division had been assembling at Indaw. On 1 March Divisional Headquarters moved to Tomahe, 10 miles north east of Homalin. It waited for orders to advance.
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